2008

# Harry Miller v. State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(f).

## ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Rule 12(b)(6) U.R.C.P. allows dismissals only when Plaintiff has failed to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. Plaintiff has met the basic requirements of the statute governing these actions, Utah Code Ann., § 78B-9-402. Plaintiff has asserted that he was factually innocent, based upon evidence that he was not in the State of Utah at the time the crime was committed. He has also shown that some of

the evidence in that regard was obtained after the original trial, and could not have been discovered through due diligence prior to trial. Plaintiff's allegations are sufficient to avoid dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6), and the dismissal should be reversed.

Pursuant to Russell v. Standard Corp., 898 P.2d 263, 364 (Utah 1995), the standard of review in this matter is that the factual allegations are accepted as true, and all reasonable inferences are drawn from them in a light most favorable to Plaintiff. The propriety of such a dismissal is a question of law, and is reviewed for correctness, giving no particular deference to the trial court. This issue was preserved for appeal by Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and Plaintiff's Opposition to that Motions (R 64-65; 70-134;135-158).

### **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND ORDINANCES AT ISSUE**

The relevant portions of the Utah Code and Utah Rules of Civil Procedure are included in an Addendum hereto including:

Utah Code Ann., § 78B-9-401, et seq. , the Postconviction Determination of Factual Innocence.

Rule 12(b)(6) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure



## Rule 65C of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

### STATEMENT OF NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Order and Judgment of the Third District Court, Salt Lake City Department, Salt Lake County, granting Defendant's Motion to Dismiss for failure to state a cause of action, pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) U.R.C.P. This is an action pursuant to Utah Code Ann. 78B-9-402 seeking compensation for imprisonment, due to actual innocence. Plaintiff was previously convicted of aggravated robbery, pursuant to Utah code Ann. § 76-3-302, a first degree felony. That conviction was reversed; and all charges were dismissed.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

References herein are to the Record of this Case, No. 080907781 (R.), and to the Record of the previous criminal case, No. 031901163FS (R2.)

Petitioner was arrested on February 11, 2003; and was charged in the Third District Court with the crime of aggravated robbery, a first degree felony, on or about February 18, 2003, in Case No. 031901163FS. (R2. 1-6). He was remanded to the custody of the Salt Lake County Sheriff on that date. The Information alleged that the crime was committed in Salt Lake County on or about December 8, 2000. (R2. 3).

Petitioner was tried by jury on the felony charge of aggravated robbery on December 16, 2003 (R2. 35-36). At trial, Defendant claimed an alibi defense, but was the only witness to that fact. He testified that he had previously lived in Utah; but lived in Donaldsonville, LA at the time of the crime, and had been living there since 1999. He testified that he had had a stroke in late November, 2000, and had to take some time off work. (R2 162-163). The parties entered into a written stipulation, to be read at trial, that Mr. Miller had been admitted to the River West Medical Center in Louisiana on November 25, 2000 for a “cerebrovascular accident” (a stroke). He was employed by Ten M Corp in Donaldsonville, LA. from May 2000 until February, 2002, and had taken medical leave from November 25 until December 13, 2000. (R2. 40). He also testified that he returned to Utah, where he had lived from 1989 to 1999, in February, 2002.

Petitioner was convicted; and on February 9, 2004, he was sentenced to a term in the Utah State Prison of from five years to life (R2 135-139). Mr. Miller was incarcerated at the Utah State Prison, or the Salt Lake County jail, from February 2004 until his release on July 6, 2007, when the Court dismissed all charges against him, on the Motion of the Salt Lake District Attorney.

Petitioner appealed his conviction to this Court under Case No. 20040150(R2.

156). On February 7, 2005, his appellate counsel filed a Motion to Remand the matter to the District Court to enter findings concerning Petitioner's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at trial. His appellate counsel argued that other alibi witnesses could have, and should have, been obtained, including Defendant's niece, Berthella Miller, who would testify that Defendant was living with her and Defendant's sister, after the stroke, and that she saw him daily during this period of time. (R2. 160-168). Berthella filed an affidavit with the Court to this effect. (R2. 211-212). Also, Beverly Kolder, a registered nurse who provided home care to Defendant, filed an affidavit with the Court in support of the Motion. That affidavit stated that she visited Mr. Miller in Donaldsonville on December 7, 2000 and again on December 14, 2000. An assessment produced by the nurse on December 14, 2000, included the statement: "Able to ride in a car only when driven by another person OR able to use a bus or handicap van only when assisted or accompanied by another person." (R2 172-186). Neither had been contacted by Defendant's trial attorney.

Defendant's sister, Paula Miller, was contacted by Defense counsel prior to the trial, but she was unwilling to come to trial, because of other family problems in Louisiana. She filed an affidavit with the Court that Mr. Miller had lived with her after he was released from the hospital on November 28, 2000, and had returned to

work on December 13, 2000. She stated that he did not leave the State during that time, and that she believed he would not have been physically able to travel long distances. (R2. 234-236). There were also Court records from Louisiana indicating that Defendant had appeared in Court in Ascension Parish Court, State of Louisiana on December 5, 2000 for fishing without a license. (R2. 208).

The victim, on the other hand, was sure that Defendant was the one who robbed her, despite the fact that it had been over two years since the robbery, when she identified him from a photo line up and an in-person lineup. (R2. 158 p. 65-66; 94). She had, however, seen black men she thought might be the robber a few other times, but had never been sure (R2. 158 P. 68). Her identification was supported by the store clerk at the Stop n' Go outside of which the robbery had occurred, who stated that he had seen the Defendant around the store "every now and then" prior to the date of the robbery, and specifically stated that he was able to identify Defendant because of his prior contacts with him. (R2. 158 p. 96-97). The sightings, "several times", were between July and December, 2000 as he had only started working there in July. (R2. 158 p. 98-99).

See also the narrative report by Sgt. Charles Oliver, of an interview with the store clerk who provided the second identification of Mr. Miller, from a photo lineup

shown him on October 24, 2003, almost three years after the incident. While the clerk picked Mr. Miller out of the photo spread, the report also states: “Mr. Nissan states that he knew the black male as a customer who came into the store once in a while. He states he did not know his name but just recognized him as a customer.”(R. 151). See also the e-mail exchange between Gretchen Havner and Kent Morgan, Assistant Justice Division Director and a man known for his determination to convict criminals, only a week or so before the State moved to dismiss the charges:

Kent Morgan: I am reviewing the file . . . thus far, I see this as only a single eyewitness identification case with no corroboration. . .if I find no corroborative evidence . . .I think I will be letting this case go . . .I have some concern that a third person identified your client as a former customer. (Emphasis added).

Gretchen Havner: The reason I believe the store clerk is mistaken about Harry’s identity is we can show Harry was employed by 10M Corporation in Donaldsonville, Louisiana, from the end of May 2000 until February 2002. Therefore, he wouldn’t have been in Salt Lake City to be a regular customer at the store leading up to the date of the incident. (R. 156).

On or about April 26, 2005, the Court ordered the matter remanded to the District Court for additional factual findings regarding the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, pursuant to Rule 23B of the Rules of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. The order stated that it was for the purpose of allowing the “Third District Court to conduct hearings and take evidence as necessary to enter

findings of fact necessary to determine the following claims of ineffective assistance of counsel”.

On February 1, 2006, the matter was returned to the Court of Appeals, after additional facts were determined. No finding was made of ineffective assistance of counsel.

The appeal was scheduled for oral arguments before this Court on January 22, 2007. On or about January 18, 2007, the parties filed a Stipulated Motion for Summary Reversal; and on the day set for oral arguments, this Court dismissed the appeal and remanded the case to this Court for a new trial.

A retrial was scheduled for July 12, 2007. On July 5, 2007, the Salt Lake District Attorney notified the District Court that it would not be going forward to trial on the assigned date, and filed a Motion to Dismiss. On July 6, 2007, the trial Court signed the Order dismissing all charges, “in the interest of justice”. Defendant dismissed was released from custody the same day.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Petitioner’s Petitioner, brought under the recent legislation providing for compensation to those unjustly convicted and imprisoned, alleges sufficient facts to defeat Defendant’s Motion, under Rule 12(b)(6) U.R.C.P. to dismiss, based on the

failure to State a cause of action. The allegations, if true, show that Defendant is highly unlikely to have committed the crime with which he was charged, and of which he was previously convicted.

Further, the trial Court erred in its standard of review. First, it should have reviewed the Petition in light of the reversal of the conviction, and the dismissal of the criminal charges. Second, it should not have relied on the factors set out in Utah Code Ann. § 78B-9-402 (2)(a), as those requirements do not apply to petitions brought under Utah Code Ann. § 78B-9-402 (b). The search here should be for justice, not for a slavish adherence to form.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

ASSUMING THE ALLEGATIONS TO BE TRUE, PETITIONER HAS ALLEGED ADEQUATE FACTS TO REQUIRE THE COURT TO HOLD AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON THE QUESTION OF ACTUAL INNOCENCE.

This is a Petition to determine factual innocence, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78B-9-401. This Petition is brought pursuant to Rule 65C of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. This Petition was filed within one year of the date that retrial was scheduled, and upon which this Court ordered all charges dismissed. Further, this Petition was filed promptly upon jurisdiction being conferred on the District Court

to determine factual innocence, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78B-9-401 et seq., effective May 5, 2008. In its 2008 general session, the Utah legislature passed Utah Code Ann., previously designated as §78-35a-401, et seq. and now recodified as § 78B-9-401 et seq. , entitled “Postconviction Determination of Factual Innocence”. The act provides for the filing of a Petition, similar to that provided for by the Post-Conviction Remedies Act, Utah Code Ann. §78B-9-101, et seq., and subject to the provisions of Rule 65C of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure as to form and content. A Petition is to be filed in the District Court having jurisdiction over the matter, and shall request a hearing to determine factual innocence. The Petitioner may allege “newly discovered evidence that establishes that the petitioner is factually innocent.” It should be sufficient, in conjunction with other evidence, to establish factual innocence. Petitioner claims that there is substantial new evidence which defense counsel did not produce at trial. In the alternative, Petitioner asserts that the evidence taken as a whole shows factual innocence, and no other finding is necessary. Therefore, Petitioner alleges that this matter should have been set for hearing to determine factual innocence.

The trial Court granted Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss this action pursuant to Rules 12(b)(6) and 65C of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 12(b)(6) allows



a Motion to Dismiss based on the failure to State a cause of action. According to the Utah Supreme Court, in Russell v. Standard Corp., 898 P.2d 263, 264 (Utah 1995):

“A rule 12(b)(6) Motion to dismiss admits the facts alleged in the complaint but challenges the Plaintiff’s right to relief based on those facts.” In determining whether a trial Court properly granted a Motion to dismiss under rule 12(b)(6), we accept the factual allegations as true and consider them and all reasonable inferences to be drawn from them in a light most favorable to the Plaintiff. (Internal citations omitted) (Emphasis added).

At this point, Petitioner does not need to prove factual innocence. He only needs to show that he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on that allegation. The State, on the other hand, in order to sustain the dismissal, must show that, even if all the allegations are true, there is no reason to have such a hearing, as the allegations are insufficient in themselves. The burden of proof at the evidentiary hearing is not now important. Certainly, the strong evidence of alibi defense, the poor quality of the eye witness identification, and the nonsensical conclusions relied upon to show guilt are sufficient to get past Rule 12(b)(6) U.R.C.P.

Petitioner’s appellate attorney, in the closing paragraph of his Reply Brief to this Court , on direct appeal, summed up the original conviction:

Here, the result was so unreliable as to approach the absurd. To propose that a man who lived and was gainfully employed in a small Louisiana town would – after being disabled by a stroke – somehow travel over 1800 miles without any of his caretakers knowing about it, immediately commit a random crime

against a stranger with negligible gain, and get himself home without anyone noticing his absence defies logic.

Petitioner has always maintained that he was in the State of Louisiana on the day when the crime was committed, and so testified at trial. Prior to the remand, additional testimony as to an alibi defense was obtained, which had not been available at the original trial. Petitioner claims factual innocence by virtue of his alibi defense, and the high degree of certainty that he was not present at the time and place the offense was committed. Mr. Miller would have had to fly to Utah on December 7th, almost immediately after his nursing appointment, commit the crime, and return to Louisiana shortly thereafter. The nurse's comments show that he was not in physical shape to do so. No evidence has been produced whatsoever that such a trip was made. While some suggestion has been made that he came out to see his brother, his brother gave a statement to the police indicating that he had seen the Defendant for some time. His caretakers did not notice his absence; and given the tight timeline, such a visit makes little sense.

The previous remand to the District Court was not to determine innocence, but instead to determine whether trial counsel met the minimum standard necessary to fulfill his legal duty to defend the Defendant in court. This Court's remand order ,

however, also included the instruction: “If trial counsel’s performance is found to be deficient, the prejudicial effect, if any, of the deficient performance on the outcome of the trial.” (R2. 253). In addressing that issue, the trial Court did review certain newly discovered facts that had not been introduced as evidence at trial. The most important items of evidence were the testimony of Berthella Miller, Defendant’s niece; and the affidavits of Beverly Kolder, a home health care nurse assigned to assist Mr. Miller while he recuperated from a stroke suffered in late November. There were also affidavits submitted by Melissa Landry, the interim director of River West Home Care, as to the dates of care provided by the agency, and Defendant’s sister, Paula Miller.

Berthella Miller testified personally that she had seen him every day during the three weeks he was out of work due to his illness. The Court found that there were many factors involved in counsel’s inability to obtain all the witnesses and information needed to present the alibi defense. He had incomplete information about the home health care agency. He was able to contact Defendant’s sister, Paula, but he was unable to convince her, because of other family problems, to come to Utah to testify. He was not told of Berthella, the niece, and did not get in touch with her. He reasonably believed that the alibi case was strong , based on the stipulation and the

testimony of Mr. Miller. (R2. 596-609). The Court made the following findings about the witnesses who had not been called by defense counsel at trial:

53. Berthella made inconsistent statements and had a poor memory of defendant's stroke. The Court therefore finds that her testimony was, at best, not reliable and that she would not have been a credible witness at Defendant's trial.
58. Evidence from the home health care nurse concerning the dates of her visits to defendant would have narrowed the window of time that defendant could have been gone from Louisiana, but would not have provided an alibi for the date of the crime on December 8, 2000
59. Evidence from the home health care nurse fails to establish a reasonable probability of a different outcome at trial.
60. Because of her inconsistent statements and lack of memory about crucial information, testimony from Berthella Miller at the evidentiary hearing was not credible. If her testimony had been presented at trial, it would have been weighed against all of the other facts, testimony, and evidence presented at trial, including the credible testimony of the victim and the second eye-witness.
61. Testimony from Berthella Miller fails to establish a reasonable probability of a different outcome at trial. (R2. 606-607).

The affidavit of Ms. Kolder firmly placed Mr. Miller in Donaldsonville, Louisiana the day before the robbery, the visit having concluded at 11:02 AM on that day. The Court responded that "Defendant could have traveled by airplane from Louisiana to Utah on December 7, 2005 [should be 2000]". (R2. 600). While that is true, of

course, it should be rather obvious that the scenario is highly unlikely. Mr. Miller does not travel by plane. Even though members of the UACDL and others contributed to a fund to help him get back to Louisiana after he was released, he never considered a plane, but instead took the bus. The State's brief, filed in the Court of Appeals, referred to the period of time that Mr. Miller was out of work from November 28 through December 13 to recuperate from the stroke, and suggested that "this time gap allowed Defendant time to travel to Salt Lake City to visit his brother, commit the robbery, and return to Louisiana." (P. 8)(Emphasis added). The logistics of getting to Salt Lake City in time to commit this crime make it nearly impossible. If Mr. Miller had driven, it would have taken over 27 hours, something not possible to do in time, even assuming he could physically have made such a trip. If he had flown, he would have to have driven to New Orleans, a trip of about one and a half hours, gotten on a plane, paid extra to fly direct, and POSSIBLY made it in eight hours. For what purpose, to rob somebody of a few dollars and then fly back in time to go back to work, and for his next home nursing visit? Nobody has ever attempted to plot out what planes he would have taken, and whether the planes actually did arrive on time.

The trial Court found that trial counsel there was not deficient regarding the

home health care nurse, “because defendant failed to provide him with information to locate this witness, and because evidence from this witness does not establish an alibi for the date of the crime.” Regarding the testimony of Petitioner’s niece, there was no deficiency “because counsel was unaware that Berthella had any relevant information, defendant failed to tell him that Berthella might have been a helpful witness, and defendant failed to provide him with information to locate this witness.” The Court went on to state that, even assuming that the two witnesses had testified, “there is no reasonable probability of a different result” at trial, due most importantly to “the credibility of the two eye witnesses who testified at trial.” (R2. 608-609).

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