2008

Harry Miller v. State of Utah : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner failed to meet the requirements of the Postconviction Determination of Factual Innocence statute, because his evidence was not newly discovered, his counsel was not ineffective, and his evidence failed to prove that he was factually innocent. The burden of proof is upon the petitioner to establish his factual

³ The court's findings, which the State drafted, mistakenly stated that Miller could have traveled from Louisiana to Utah in December 2005 rather than December 2000 (R17).

innocence by clear and convincing evidence. Petitioner's proffered evidence was insufficient to meet that burden. The district court correctly determined that it was not necessary to hold an evidentiary hearing when the evidence petitioner relied on in his petition for factual innocence was the same evidence already presented at the 23B hearing.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE PETITIONER DOES NOT MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE FACTUAL INNOCENCE STATUTE

Petitioner claims that his evidence shows that he is factually innocent (pet.'s brief at 10). He also alleges that the law should be read to give every chance to an innocent person to be compensated for unjustified imprisonment (pet.'s brief at 17). But the first and most important requirement of the factual innocence statute is that the person must be able to prove factual innocence - and petitioner has failed to meet that requirement.

A. The Statutory Requirements

In 2008 the legislature passed the Postconviction Determination of Factual Innocence statute. Utah Code Ann. §§ 78B-9-401 through 405. The purpose of the statute is to financially compensate one who can prove by clear and convincing evidence that he is factually innocent and was wrongly imprisoned. *Id.*, and see addendum H, *Exoneration and Assistance Bill: Senate Floor Debate on S.B. 16, 2008 Utah*

Leg. Gen. Session, Jan. 22, 2008 (statement of Senator Gregory Bell, chief sponsor of the bill (0:11 – 15:28). The statute imposes specific, narrow, requirements that must be met in order for a petitioner to be entitled to financial compensation. A petitioner must assert under oath that he is factually innocent. Utah Code Ann. § 78B-9-402(2)(a). In addition, “[t]he burden is upon the petitioner to establish the petitioner’s factual innocence by clear and convincing evidence.” Utah Code Ann. §78B-9-404(1)(b).

A person may petition for a hearing to determine factual innocence only if the petition alleges the following information:

- (i) newly discovered material evidence exists that establishes that the petitioner is factually innocent;
- (ii) the petitioner identifies the specific evidence the petitioner claims establishes innocence;
- (iii) the material evidence is not merely cumulative of evidence that was known;
- (iv) the material evidence is not merely impeachment evidence;
- (v) viewed with all the other evidence, the newly discovered evidence demonstrates that the petitioner is factually innocent; and
- (vi)(A) neither the petitioner nor petitioner’s counsel knew of the evidence at the time of trial or sentencing or in time to include the evidence in any previously filed post-trial motion or postconviction motion, and the evidence could not have been discovered by the petitioner or the petitioner’s counsel through the exercise of reasonable diligence;
- (B) a court has found ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to exercise reasonable diligence in uncovering the evidence; or
- (C) the court waives the requirements of Subsection (2)(a)(vi)(A) or (2)(a)(vi)(B) in the interest of justice.

Utah Code Ann. § 78B-9-402(2)(a).

Once the petition is filed, the State must answer or otherwise respond. Utah Code Ann. § 78B-9-402(6)(a). After the pleadings are closed, “the court shall order a hearing if it finds there is a bona fide issue as to whether the petitioner is factually innocent of the charges of which the petitioner was convicted.” Utah Code Ann. § 78B-9-402(6)(b)(i).⁴ If there is no bona fide issue as to whether the petitioner is factually innocent, a hearing is not required. Here, the district court determined that the petitioner had “not made the required showing for a hearing.” (R172).

In making its determination of factual innocence, the court may consider various types of evidence.

- (2) The court may consider:
 - (a) evidence that was suppressed or would be suppressed at a criminal trial; and
 - (b) hearsay evidence, and may consider that the evidence is hearsay in evaluating its weight and credibility.
- (3) In making its determination the court shall consider, in addition to the evidence presented at the hearing under this part, all the evidence presented at the original trial and at any postconviction proceedings in the case.

Utah Code Ann. §78B-9-404(2)&(3).

⁴ “If the parties stipulate that the evidence establishes that the petitioner is factually innocent, the court may find the petitioner is factually innocent without holding a hearing.” Utah Code Ann. § 78B-9-404(6)(b)(ii).

If the court determines by clear and convincing evidence that the petitioner is factually innocent, it shall order that the conviction be vacated and expunged. Utah Code Ann. §78B-9-404(4). After considering all of the evidence, if the court does not determine by clear and convincing evidence that the petitioner is factually innocent it shall deny the petition. Utah Code Ann. §78B-9-404(5).

B. The petitioner does not meet the statutory requirements to establish factual innocence.

This case is not about whether petitioner was entitled to a new trial. This case is about whether the petitioner proved by clear and convincing evidence that he was factually innocent. To be entitled to compensation under the factual innocence statute, a petitioner must be able to prove by clear and convincing evidence that he was wrongly convicted and sent to prison for a crime that he can prove he did not commit. Utah Code Ann. § 78B-9-402 through 405. Petitioner does not meet those requirements.

The petition does not allege newly discovered material evidence. All of the evidence petitioner relies upon was known to petitioner or his counsel at the time of trial, and petitioner's counsel has already been found not to be ineffective. In addition, some of the evidence petitioner relies upon is merely cumulative of evidence presented at trial. Finally, even if petitioner's evidence were newly

discovered, when it is viewed with all the other evidence, it does not demonstrate that the petitioner is factually innocent.

1. Petitioner's evidence is not newly discovered.

After the petition was filed, the State filed an answer and a motion to dismiss. The State argued that petitioner failed to assert newly discovered material evidence in support of his petition, as required under Utah Code Ann. §78B-9-402(2)(a)(1). Petitioner's memorandum in support of his petition refers to the affidavit of Beverly Kolder, a registered nurse involved in providing home health care to petitioner in Louisiana (R51-52). It also refers to "additional testimony as to an alibi defense," but it never specifies what that additional testimony is (R50-51).

In his opposition to the State's motion to dismiss, petitioner attempted to expand his assertions. He stated that the new evidence which establishes his innocence consists of 1) the affidavit of Beverly Kolder, a registered nurse who provided home health care to petitioner in Louisiana on December 7th and 14th, 2000 (R137-138); 2) the testimony of Berthella Miller⁵ that she had seen petitioner every day during the three weeks he was out of work (R138); and 3) that petitioner was in court in Louisiana on December 5, 2000 for fishing without a license (R138).

⁵ Petitioner refers to the testimony of "Defendant's sister." (R138). However, petitioner's sister did not testify. It appears that petitioner is actually referring to the testimony of his niece, Berthella Miller.

None of this evidence is “new.” To support his ineffective assistance of counsel claim in the prior 23B remand, petitioner consistently argued that defense counsel knew of the home health visits and of other alibi witnesses, in order to argue that counsel should have investigated further and produced the witnesses at trial (R83-94). At the 23B evidentiary hearing, petitioner testified that he told his trial attorney about his niece, Berthella, and about the home health care people who visited him (R128-129). In petitioner’s rule 23B motion for remand, he stated that “although trial counsel had in his file, and Miller communicated to trial counsel the existence of court records showing Miller’s presence in court in Louisiana on December 5th, 2000, trial counsel did not attempt to introduce said records at trial.” (addendum G, pp. 6-7). Petitioner’s claim that he has presented newly discovered material evidence is contrary to his previous position that this evidence is not new.

In addition, petitioner’s evidence fails as a matter of law to meet the statutory definition of newly discovered evidence. As the district court correctly noted in its ruling, petitioner’s claims do not meet subsection (vi)(A), requiring newly discovered evidence. Petitioner’s claims do not qualify as newly discovered evidence because petitioner was aware of the substance of the evidence at the time of trial. Petitioner knew that he was treated in Louisiana by a home health care nurse. He also knew whether his niece Berthella cared for and/or lived with him

following his stroke. He also knew that he went to court in Louisiana on December 5, 2000, for the charge of fishing without a license.

Because petitioner knew all of this information prior to trial, it is not “newly discovered.” It does not meet the requirements of Utah Code Ann. §78B-9-402(2)(a)(vi)(A), that “neither the petitioner nor petitioner’s counsel knew of the evidence at the time of trial or sentencing or in time to include the evidence in any previously filed post-trial motion or postconviction motion, and the evidence could not have been discovered by the petitioner or the petitioner’s counsel through the exercise of reasonable diligence.”

2. Petitioner’s counsel was not ineffective.

Even if evidence does not qualify as newly discovered, it may meet the factual innocence statutory requirements if counsel were ineffective for failing to uncover it. A person may petition the court for a hearing to establish factual innocence if the petition alleges that “a court has found ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to exercise reasonable diligence in uncovering the evidence.” Utah Code Ann. §78B-9-402(2)(a)(vi)(B).

Petitioner does not meet this requirement, because following the 23B hearing, the district court found that trial counsel was *not* ineffective (R24-26). Therefore, petitioner does not meet the requirement of Utah Code Ann. §78B-9-402(2)(a)(vi)(B),

that “a court has found ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to exercise reasonable diligence in uncovering the evidence.”

3. The evidence presented by petitioner does not prove that he is factually innocent.

The factual innocence statute provides that a court may waive the requirements of subsections (2)(a)(vi)(A) or (B) in the interests of justice. Utah Code Ann. §78B-9-402(2)(a)(vi)(C). In other words, a court could decide to allow a petitioner to proceed in the interests of justice, even if he did not present newly discovered evidence, and counsel was not found ineffective. However, the district court specifically decided not to waive these requirements (R172). The interests of justice did not require that these subsections be waived because petitioner also could not establish that his evidence was not merely cumulative, or, when viewed with all the other evidence, that it demonstrated that he was factually innocent. §§ 78B-9-402(2)(a)(ii), (iii) & (v).

The district court found that petitioner had not shown that the evidence was not merely cumulative of evidence already presented at trial (R172). Petitioner already presented an alibi defense at trial. As set out in the fact section above, petitioner testified at trial that at the time of the crime he was living and working in Louisiana (R2.158:45-46, 103). The parties stipulated that petitioner was employed in Louisiana from May 2000 until February 2002, that he had a stroke on November

25, 2000, and that he was on medical leave from November 25, 2000 until December 13, 2000 (R2.40; 158:110). Petitioner also testified at trial that after his stroke his speech was still “mumbled” and that he had a nurse who visited him to help him learn to speak (R2. 158:108). The district court found that petitioner had not shown that the evidence presented in support of his factual innocence petition was not merely cumulative of evidence already presented at trial (R172). Therefore, petitioner failed to meet section 78B-9-402(2)(a)(iii).

More importantly, petitioner failed to identify specific evidence that established his innocence, and when viewed with all the other evidence, the evidence he presented does not demonstrate that he is factually innocent. The district court stated that it had “reviewed this evidence as part of a remand from the court of appeals and determined that there was ‘no reasonable probability of a different outcome at trial even if [the new witnesses] had testified.’” (R172).

In his brief, petitioner acknowledges that “[i]t still may be true that Defendant could conceivably have gotten on an airplane, come out to Utah, and robbed a stranger for a few dollars, nowhere near enough to pay for the airplane ticket; but at this point, everyone must concede that this does not make sense.” (pet.’s brief at

24).⁶ Petitioner himself acknowledges that he could have committed this crime. Petitioner has failed to meet his burden of proof to establish by “clear and convincing evidence” that he is factually innocent. He is therefore not entitled to relief under the factual innocence statute.

C. The petitioner bears the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that he is factually innocent.

Petitioner claims that “the State must bear some burden to overcome the presumption of innocence.” (pet.’s brief at 25). However, petitioner is not entitled to a presumption of innocence. The presumption of innocence only applies in a criminal action. “A defendant in a criminal proceeding is presumed to be innocent until each element of the offense charged against him is proved beyond a reasonable doubt.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-1-501 (West 2008); *see also Coffin v. United States*, 156 U.S. 432, 453, 15 S.Ct. 394 (1895). A petition for post-conviction determination of factual innocence is not a criminal proceeding. It is a civil action. The rules of civil procedure apply. Utah Code Ann. § 78B-9-402(4). Therefore, the presumption of

⁶ The State does not concede that petitioner committing this crime does not make sense. Petitioner apparently believes that the crime would make sense only if there had been several hundred dollars in the victim’s purse. But how much money a robber steals does not establish whether the crime made sense or not. A robber seldom knows beforehand how much money he is going to get when he steals a woman’s purse. Petitioner also ignores the fact that, in addition to stealing the victim’s purse, he also tried to steal her car - perhaps in order to drive back to Louisiana.

innocence does not apply to a petitioner who has filed a petition for the determination of factual innocence.

The factual innocence statute provides that “[t]he burden is upon the petitioner to establish the petitioner’s factual innocence by clear and convincing evidence.” Utah Code Ann. § 78B-9-404(1)(b).

The petitioner brings this civil action by filing a petition for the determination of factual innocence. It is entirely his burden to establish his factual innocence by clear and convincing evidence. Utah Code Ann. § 78B-9-404(1)(b).

II.

THE FACT THAT THE CONVICTION WAS REVERSED ON APPEAL AND THE CASE DISMISSED DOES NOT ESTABLISH PETITIONER’S INNOCENCE AND DOES NOT EXCUSE HIM FROM ANY OF THE STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS

- A. The fact that the conviction was reversed on appeal and the case has been dismissed is not sufficient to meet the requirements of the factual innocence statute.**

Petitioner asserts that it “approaches the absurd to read this statute not to favor compensation where the conviction has been reversed on appeal, and the case has been dismissed.” (pet.’s brief at 19-20). The statute must be read according to its terms. Nothing in the language of the statute establishes that a person is entitled to compensation merely because a conviction has been reversed on appeal or because a case has been dismissed.

The statute is clearly not meant to require the State to pay money to every petitioner whose conviction has been overturned. As the sponsor of the legislation, Senator Bell, stated in his summation when presenting the bill: “The mere fact that the prisoner has been released from jail does not establish the right to have a claim under this fund.” (addendum H, *Exoneration and Assistance Bill: Senate Floor Debate on S.B. 16*, 2008 Utah Leg. Gen. Session, Jan. 22, 2008 (statement of Senator Gregory Bell, chief sponsor of the bill) (15:28)).

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